2010

William A. Doyle v. Lehi City, Blythe Bay, Daniel Harrison, Amanda Len Mackintosh : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. **Did the trial court err in striking certain portions of submitted affidavits in support of Appellant's *Memorandum in Opposition to Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment*?**

Standard of Review: Abuse-of-discretion. In reviewing a decision to striking affidavits an appellate court “looks to [its] prior decisions regarding the admission of evidence more generally.” In civil cases, where the evidence sought to be introduced does not raise concerns of the type that have produced heightened standards of sensitivity, a trial court decision to admit evidence is reviewed under a broad grant of discretion. *In re General Determination of Rights to Use of All Water*, 982 P.2d 65, 72 (Utah, 1999).

Issue Preserved at: [R. 357-359, 447-449, 452-454, 462].

2. **Did the trial court err in determining that Appellant had no legally protectable interest in his position as a volunteer coach?**

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial court’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); see also *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 2002 UT 21, ¶ 1, 44 P.3d 704.

Issue Preserved at: [R. 202-245, 311-352, 405-422, 448-452].

3. Did the trial court err in determining that the Appellant's Amended Notice of Claim was inadequate to put Appellee Lehi City on notice of Appellant's defamation and breach of contract causes of action?

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court views “the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below” and gives “no deference to the trial court’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness.” *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634, 636-37 (Utah 1989); see also *Goodnow v. Sullivan*, 2002 UT 21, ¶ 1, 44 P.3d 704.

Issue Preserved at: [R. 204, 311, 445-447].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case.

1. This appeal requires the Court to determine the following questions of law:
 - (1) Whether the paragraphs stricken from submitted affidavits in support of Appellant’s *Memorandum in Opposition to Appellees’ Motion for Summary Judgment* were relevant, established foundation, were non-conclusory, and admissible;
 - (2) Whether Appellant had a legally protectable interest in his position as a volunteer coach and the subsidiary questions:
 - (a) Whether volunteers are entitled to the same or similar First Amendment protections as public employees;
 - (b) Whether the individual Appellees are protected from Appellant’s 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim by a qualified immunity defense;
 - (c) Whether Appellant provided clearly established legal authority from the

Tenth Circuit to prove that he is entitled to First Amendment protection even though he was a volunteer;

- (d) Whether, for purposes of his Fourteenth Amendment violation claim, Appellant established: (1) that he was treated differently from other similarly situated volunteers, and (2) that Appellees had no rational basis for the disparate treatment;
 - (e) Whether Appellee Lehi City may be held liable for the acts of its employees if it is established that those employees *did* violate Appellant's constitutional rights;
 - (f) Whether Appellant had constitutionally protected liberty or property interests sufficient to invoke Fourteenth Amendment rights;
 - (g) If Appellant did have a liberty and/or property interest in volunteer coaching, whether the trial court's failure to analyze and determine Appellant's procedural due process claim was erroneous;
 - (h) Whether Appellant is entitled to attorney's fees under 42 U.S.C § 1988(b) if he establishes his 42 U.S.C § 1983 claims.
- (3) Whether Appellant strictly complied with Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-401(3)(a)(ii) even though the *Amended Notice of Claim* did not specifically list potential breach of contract and defamation claims.
2. The Appellant in this case (who was Plaintiff in the underlying trial case) is William A. Doyle, a resident of Utah County, Utah.
 3. The Appellees in this case are Lehi City, a Utah municipal corporation [R. 20], Blythe

Bray, an employee of Lehi City [R. 20], Daniel Harrison, an employee of Lehi City [R. 19], and Amanda Len Mackintosh, an employee of Lehi City. [R. 19].

4. For ease of reference, this Brief will refer to Lehi City, Blythe Bray, Daniel Harrison, and Amanda Len Mackintosh collectively as the “Appellees.”

Course of Proceedings/Disposition of trial court.

5. On September 6, 2007, Appellant filed a *Verified Complaint* in the Fourth Judicial District Court, Utah County against Appellees. [R. 1-20].
6. On August 29, 2008, Appellant filed an *Amended Verified Complaint* in the Fourth Judicial District Court, Utah County against Appellees. [R. 38-61].
7. In the *Amended Verified Complaint*, Appellant alleged the following eight causes of action:
 - (1) First Amendment Retaliation;
 - (2) Equal Protection;
 - (3) Defamation;
 - (4) Procedural Due Process – Liberty Interest;
 - (5) Procedural Due Process – Property Interest;
 - (6) 42 U.S.C. §1983 Cause of Action;
 - (7) 42 U.S.C. §1988(b) Cause of Action; and
 - (8) Breach of Contract.
8. Appellees filed an *Answer and Notice of Intent to Rely on Jury Demand* on October 6, 2008. [R. 62-79].
9. On August 7, 2009, Appellees submitted a *Motion for Summary Judgment* pursuant to

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). The *Motion for Summary Judgment* and accompanying memorandum addressed Appellant's qualified immunity claim, constitutional claim, attorney fees claim, and *Notice of Claim*. [R. 97-100, 201-245].

10. Appellant filed a *Memoranda in Opposition* to the *Motion for Summary Judgment* on August 31, 2009. [R. 250-352].
11. On September 21, 2009, Appellees filed a *Motion to Strike Affidavits* with an accompanying memorandum. [R. 353-361].
12. Appellees filed a *Reply Memoranda in Support* of the *Motion for Summary Judgment* on September 21, 2009. [R. 121, 128].
13. Appellant filed a *Memoranda in Opposition* to the *Motion to Strike* on October 5, 2009. [R. 423-428].
14. Appellees filed a *Reply Memoranda* in support of the *Motion to Strike Affidavits* on October 19, 2009. [R. 429-435].
15. After the trial court heard oral arguments on December 14, 2009 [R. 475, p. 1-45] and on January 11, 2010 [R. 476, p. 1-47], the trial court issued its ruling on March 23, 2010 [R. 443-464] and entered an *Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* and *Motion to Strike* on May 3, 2010. [R. 465-467].
16. In its *March 23, 2010 Ruling*, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Appellees on all claims brought by Appellant. The trial court generally determined the following [R. 464]:
 - a. Appellees were entitled to qualified immunity as to any Constitutional-based claim;

- b. Appellant was not a public employee, but a volunteer; therefore, Appellant had no legally protectable interest in coaching;
- c. Because the individual Appellees did not violate Appellant's rights (if any), Appellant's claims must fail as a matter of law;
- d. Appellant had no constitutionally-protected property or liberty interest in his position as a volunteer for the City;
- e. An analysis of any alleged procedural due process violation is unnecessary because Appellant had no protected liberty or property interest to speak of;
- f. 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b) is not a separate cause of action, and at any rate, the court has discretion to award fees only to a prevailing party. Because Appellant did not prevail, he is not entitled to attorney's fees;
- g. Appellant's Amended Notice of Claim did not contain any claim for breach of contract or defamation. Accordingly, those two claims merit dismissal;
- h. Appellant did not allege detrimental reliance and, therefore, could not claim promissory estoppel with respect to his coaching position.

17. The trial court determined that the following affidavits and their respective paragraphs should be stricken for being irrelevant, lacking in foundation, conclusory, containing inadmissible opinion testimony, and/or hearsay [R. 452-454]:

Affidavit	Paragraph(s)
Bridgit Doyle	8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 and 17
James Johnston	8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15
Alan Paul	7, 8, 10, 11, 12 and 13
Joyce Olson	8, 9 and 10
Sharon Johnston	8
Wayne Stanley Crump	7
Roger Dean	6

18. Appellant timely filed a *Notice of Appeal* on May 10, 2010. [R. 468-470].

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Parties and Background.

19. This case involves the termination of Appellant William A. Doyle (“Appellant”) from his position as a volunteer coach for Appellee Lehi City. [R. 100].
20. Lehi City is a municipality that offers formalized youth sports programs to its residents. [R. 238].
21. Lehi City operates the “Legacy Center,” a gym and sports center located in Lehi City. [R. 238].
22. At all relevant times, Appellee Dan Harrison (“Harrison”) was employed by Lehi City as the Director of the Legacy Center. [R. 238].
23. At all relevant times, Appellee Blythe Bray (“Bray”) was the Youth Sports Director at the Legacy Center. [R. 238].
24. Harrison was Bray’s immediate supervisor. [R. 234].
25. At all relevant times, Appellee Amanda Mackintosh (“Mackintosh”) was employed by Lehi City as a youth sports field supervisor. [R. 238].
26. Appellant has been a volunteer coach for Lehi City’s youth baseball program since 1981. [R. 463].
27. Through his participation in the Lehi City’s youth baseball program, Appellant established a reputation within the community as a dedicated and skilled coach and a man of good character and moral integrity. [R. 60].
28. Pursuant to the Volunteer Code of Conduct for Lehi City, volunteers are subject to

the same standards of performance as regular employees, drug tests and background checks. [R. 59, 77].

29. Appellant had taken and passed the “Set a Good Example” (S.A.G.E.) program required by Lehi City before participating in the Lehi City’s youth baseball program. Appellant received a card certifying that he had taken the S.A.G.E. class and was in good standing to continue coaching youth baseball for Lehi City. [R. 59].
30. During the 2006 baseball season, Appellant and his team, the “A’s,” finished in first place in regular season play, won the Lehi City tournament and placed third in the State tournament. [R. 59, 77].
31. At the beginning of the 2006 season, Bray announced a change in procedure that allowed certain teams to be unfairly stacked with an inordinate and disproportionate amount of talented players. [R. 59].
32. Appellant voiced his concerns to Bray that the method by which the draft was conducted was unfair to participants of Lehi City’s baseball program. [R. 59, 77].
33. Throughout the 2006 season, Appellant voiced his concerns to Bray and other members of the community regarding other matters of fairness and safety raised by the administration of Lehi City’s baseball program. [R. 58, 77].
34. In July 2006, after the season had ended, Bray, on two separate occasions affirmatively represented to both Appellant and his spouse, Bridgit Doyle that Appellant would definitely coach a team for the 2007 youth baseball season. [R. 58].

Termination of the Appellant as Volunteer.

35. In July 2006, Bray met with Harrison to discuss her concerns about Appellant and

- possible violations of the Volunteer Code of Conduct (which included allegations that Appellant had periodically acted in an angry manner towards Legacy Center personnel and/or umpires and had occasionally used the word “bullshit” in front of some of the children). [R. 230].
36. Bray and Harrison decided to wait until the following season to see if Doyle would apply for a volunteer coaching position before deciding on the appropriate course of action. [R. 229].
 37. In late March of 2007, Appellant completed and filed a Volunteer Coach Application for the 2007 season. [R. 229].
 38. After Appellant submitted the application, Bray met with Harrison to discuss what course of action to take. [R. 229].
 39. To prepare for discussing the issue of Appellant’s alleged behavior in the 2006 season, Harrison asked Bray to prepare a list of each incident involving Appellant’s behavior of which she was aware. [R. 229].
 40. Bray prepared a list of each incident of Appellant’s conduct that she believed violated the Volunteer Code of Conduct or which she believed was disruptive to the program, its employees, and other volunteers. [R. 229].
 41. The list included seven “instances” of allegedly disruptive behavior: three instances of yelling about policies or programs, two instances of Appellant coming in to Harrison’s office to talk about a policy or program, one instance of starting a petition concerning the recreational programs at the ballpark, and one instance of Appellant appearing at Bray’s office with his wife and other individuals to discuss a problem

that occurred at one of the games. [R. 183].

42. At least three of the instances cited by Bray could not be categorized as inappropriate (an “OK” is written next to those instances), and importantly, in only one instance is there an indication that Appellant used “inappropriate language.” [R. 183].
43. Ultimately Bray and Harrison jointly decided that, based upon alleged observations of “improper conduct” on the part of Appellant by several individuals, Appellant would be declined a volunteer position for the youth baseball program for the 2007 season. [R. 228].
44. On March 27, 2007, Harrison met with Appellant and informed Appellant that he was prohibited from coaching youth baseball for the 2007 season due to complaints about his behavior. [R. 58, 76, 228].
45. Harrison told Appellant that Appellant could coach football or basketball, but not baseball. [R. 58; 76].
46. Harrison told Appellant that if he would keep Bray “happy,” Appellant could have a team the following year. [R. 58].
47. During the March 27, 2007 meeting with Harrison, Appellant was never given any type of official written documentation to support Bray’s decision. [R. 58].
48. Harrison also reviewed the list of seven reasons with Appellant that Bray had provided him as the basis for her decision to prohibit Appellant from coaching baseball. [R. 58-59, 76].
49. Appellant disputed the characterization of his actions, and argued that Harrison never investigated Bray’s accusations to determine their accuracy. Appellant also noted that

Lehi City had never provided prior written notice of any violation or basis for termination prior to actual termination, and that he had no opportunity to for a review hearing or other proceeding prior to his termination. [R. 56].

50. Appellant contends that he was prohibited from serving as a volunteer baseball coach because he voiced concerns to his superiors over issues of fairness concerning the youth participants and how the program was being run. Appellant also argues that he was prohibited from serving as a volunteer baseball coach in an effort to limit his speech concerning the administration of a publicly organized program and to retaliate against Appellant for engaging in speech on a matter of public concern. [R. 305].
51. The list of seven instances prepared by Bray clearly indicates that one reason Appellant was expressly prohibited from volunteering as a baseball coach was because he “started a petition concerning the recreation programs (sports) in Lehi [and] tried to get signatures at the ballpark.” [R. 57, 183].
52. In fact, after Harrison informed Appellant that he would be prohibited from coaching baseball, he warned Appellant not to start a petition because petitions were “a sign of weakness.” Appellant was prohibited from coaching Lehi City baseball because he had engaged in lawful speech concerning the fair administration of the baseball program and other safety matters. [R. 53, 55].
53. Bray and Harrison acted in a manner that tarnished and impeached Appellant’s integrity, virtue, and reputation within the community. [R. 55].
54. The other reasons cited by Bray and Harrison for prohibiting Appellant’s involvement with the baseball program were either fabricated, exaggerated, or

pretextual. Appellant believes the motivations were pre-textual insofar as he was permitted to continue coaching basketball and football while being denied the opportunity to coach baseball. Furthermore, Bray and Harrison explicitly referenced their disapproval of Appellant's efforts to begin a petition. [R. 55-56].

55. There was no attempt by Lehi City to investigate or verify Bray's accusations against Appellant, and no file or documentation existed in support of those accusations prior to or at the time Appellant was denied the 2007 volunteer opportunity. R. 54].
56. Appellant filed a *Verified Complaint* in District Court September 6, 2007. [R. 20].
57. The Complaint alleged 10 separate causes of action: (1) First Amendment Retaliation, (2) Equal Protection, (3) Defamation, (4) Procedural Due Process – Liberty Interest, (5) Procedural Due Process – Property Interest, (6) 42 U.S.C. §1983 Cause of Action, (7) 42 U.S.C. §1988(b) Cause of Action, (8) Breach of Contract, (9) Equitable Estoppel, and (10) Attorney Fees. [R. 3-13].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously struck paragraphs from the affidavits of Bridgit Doyle, James Johnston, Alan Paul, Joyce Olson, Sharon Johnston, Wayne Stanley Crump, and Roger Dean. The paragraphs that were struck, however, were based upon personal knowledge, show the existence of disputed fact, contain relevant information, and are provided by competent witnesses, thereby satisfying the requirements of Utah R. Civ. P. 56. Furthermore, the trial court erred in determining that fact issues raised in Appellant's own affidavit were immaterial.

The trial court erroneously determined that there was insufficient Tenth Circuit case

law to support Appellant's contention that volunteers have similar or the same First Amendment rights as public employees. The trial court failed to consider all facts detailed in the leading Tenth Circuit case on the issue, *Andersen v. McCotter*, 100 F.3d 723 (10th Cir. 1996), which establishes that volunteers have the similar or the same constitutional protections under the First Amendment.

The trial court erroneously determined that the individual Appellees were entitled to qualified immunity against Appellant's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims because volunteers do not have clearly established First Amendment protections or a protectable interest in keeping their volunteer jobs. Appellant argues, on the contrary, that volunteers do have such protections and interests and that the individual Appellees violated Appellant's clearly established constitutional rights of which a reasonable official would have known. Appellant also argues that Appellant provided clearly established legal authority from the Tenth Circuit to establish that he is entitled to First Amendment protection despite his volunteer status.

With respect to his Fourteenth Amendment violation claim, Appellant properly established: (1) that he was treated differently from other similarly situated volunteers, and (2) that Appellees had no rational basis for their disparate treatment in terminating his baseball coaching position for the 2007 season. Appellant contends that Lehi City may be held liable for the acts of its employees if it is established that those employees did violate Appellant's constitutional rights.

Appellant argues that he had constitutionally protected liberty or property interests sufficient to invoke Fourteenth Amendment rights; and if Appellant did have a liberty and/or property interest in volunteer coaching, the trial court's failure to analyze and

determine Appellant's procedural due process claim was erroneous.

If Appellant establishes his 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims, he would be entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b).

Finally, Appellant asserts that the trial court improperly determined that his *Amended Notice of Claim* did not strictly comply with Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-401 of the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah ("UGIA") because Appellant did not specifically list "breach of contract" or "defamation" as causes of action. Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-401 does not require a claimant to list specific causes of action in the notice of claim.

ARGUMENT

1. **The trial court erred in striking certain portions of submitted affidavits in support of Appellant's *Memorandum in Opposition to Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment* because the portions of the submitted affidavits complied with the requirements of Utah R. Civ. P. 56.**

A. Standard of Review.

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