2010

# William A. Doyle v. Lehi City, Blythe Bay, Daniel Harrison, Amanda Len Mackintosh : Brief of Appellees

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Appellees Lehi City, Blythe Bray, Daniel Harrison, and Amanda Mackintosh on all of Doyle's causes

of action against them. The trial court correctly found that Bray and Harrison are entitled to qualified immunity from Doyle's first amendment and equal protection claims. It was not clearly established at the time of the conduct at issue that a volunteer enjoys such constitutional protections. Moreover, even if it was clearly established, the trial court's decision should be affirmed on the alternate basis that Bray and Harrison did not violate any of Doyle's first amendment or equal protection rights.

The trial court's summary judgment in favor of Lehi City on Doyle's first amendment and equal protection claims should also be affirmed, because the individual Appellees did not violate Doyle's constitutional rights, and even if they did, Doyle failed to show any evidence that Lehi City had a municipal policy or custom that was the moving force behind the individual Appellees' alleged constitutional violations. Lehi is also entitled to summary judgment on Doyle's procedural due process claim because volunteers do not enjoy procedural due process protections, and, even if they do, Doyle had no specific liberty or property interest in this case arising out of his volunteer coach position.

This Court should also affirm the trial court's summary judgment on Doyle's defamation, breach of contract, and equitable estoppel claims. Summary judgment was warranted on Doyle's defamation, equitable estoppel and breach of contract claims because no facts supporting those claims were set forth in Doyle's notice of claim. Lastly, the Court should affirm the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Appellees on Doyle's equitable estoppel claim, because Doyle did not show evidence of any detrimental reliance, and his defamation claim, because the statements alleged are not defamatory as a matter of law.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF APPELLEES BRAY AND HARRISON BECAUSE THEY POSSESS QUALIFIED IMMUNITY FROM DOYLE'S CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS.**

Government officials performing discretionary functions are protected by qualified immunity from lawsuits under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 alleging constitutional violations, so long as the official's "conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." *Gomes v. Wood*, 451 F.3d 1122, 1134 (10th Cir. 2006) (internal quotations omitted). Qualified immunity protects "all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 334, 341, 106 S.Ct. 1092, 89 L.E.2d 271 (1986). When a state official asserts qualified immunity, he raises a rebuttable presumption that he is immune from the plaintiff's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims. *See Medina v. Cram*, 252 F.3d 1124, 1129 (10th Cir. 2001).

In order to overcome the presumption of qualified immunity, the plaintiff bears the initial "heavy burden" of showing that the defendant's conduct violated one of the plaintiff's constitutional rights. *Reynolds v. Powell*, 370 F.3d 1028, 1090 (10th Cir. 2004); *Brosseau v. Haugen*, 543 U.S. 194, 198, 125 S.Ct. 596, 160 L.E.2d 583 (2004). The determinative question is: "Taken in the light most favorable to the party asserting the injury, do the facts alleged show the [government official]'s conduct violated a constitutional right?" *Kirkland v. St. Vrain Valley Sch. Dist.*, 464 F.3d 1182, 1188 (10th Cir. 2006). If the government actor's conduct did not violate one of the plaintiff's

constitutional rights, qualified immunity is appropriate as a matter of law. *See Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U.S. 194, 201-02 (2001).

However, if the plaintiff satisfies his initial burden of showing evidence of a constitutional violation, the plaintiff must still proceed to meet the second burden of demonstrating that the constitutional right allegedly violated was clearly established, on a specific level, at the time of the conduct at issue. *Brosseau*, 543 U.S. at 199. The plaintiff must show that “[t]he contours of the right [were] sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that right.” *Brosseau*, 543 U.S. at 201. This involves setting forth prior case law that specifically addresses and “squarely governs” the factual situation the defendant confronted to demonstrate a right is clearly established. *Brosseau*, *supra* at 200-201. “For the law to be clearly established, there must be a Supreme Court or Tenth Circuit decision on point, or the clearly established weight of authority from other courts must be as plaintiff maintains.” *Foote v. Spiegel*, 118 F.3d 1416, 1424 (10th Cir.1997). Qualified immunity may be denied only if it is “obvious” under prior case law that a reasonably competent officer would have realized that his actions were unconstitutional. *Gomes*, *supra*, at 1134.

Courts have discretion as to the order in which to apply the qualified immunity test. *Pearson v. Callahan*, 555 U.S. 223, 129 S.Ct. 808, 818, 172 L.Ed.2d 565 (2009). In cases where the constitutional issues are complex, it is permissible to evaluate whether a right is clearly established prior to analyzing whether the facts show a violation of a constitutional right. *Id.*

**a. First Amendment**

Doyle claims that Bray and Harrison decided not to select him as a coach for the 2007 season because he: 1) spoke regarding “matters of fairness and safety” (Aplt. Brief at p. 8); 2) spoke regarding “improper operation of recreational programs in Lehi City” (Aplt. Brief at 31); and 3) “raised concerns about changes in the recreational program” (Aplt. Brief at p. 29). Beyond these vague and conclusory descriptions of his alleged speech, Doyle never specifically identifies for this Court the exact comments he claims to have made regarding fairness, safety, improper operation, or concerns about changes.

As explained below, however, Bray and Harrison are entitled to qualified immunity from Doyle’s first amendment claim because it was not clearly established in 2007 that volunteers enjoyed first amendment protections, and because Doyle’s speech was not constitutionally protected, such that Bray and Harrison did not violate his first amendment rights even if their decision not to select him as a coach was premised upon his speech.

*i. It was not clearly established in 2007 that a volunteer is entitled to first amendment protection.*

At the time of Bray and Harrison’s decision not to select Doyle as a coach, it was not clearly established that a volunteer who engaged in allegedly protected speech regarding his volunteer position possessed a protected interest under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. Generally speaking, “[t]he First Amendment prohibits government officials from subjecting an individual to retaliatory actions ... for speaking out.” *Hartman v. Moore*, 547 U.S. 250, 256, 126 S.Ct. 1695, 164 L.Ed.2d 441 (2006). However, neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Tenth Circuit has ever

extended such protections to volunteers.

In order to overcome the rebuttable presumption that Bray and Harrison are entitled to qualified immunity from this claim, Doyle must point to a prior case from the Supreme Court or Tenth Circuit extending First Amendment protections to a volunteer. Doyle has not satisfied this burden, because no such prior law exists. There is no prior case law from the Tenth Circuit or the Supreme Court that specifically addresses and “squarely governs” the factual situation presented here, *Brosseau*, 543 U.S. at 200-201, holding that an unpaid volunteer who receives no monetary compensation or attendant tangible benefits is entitled to first amendment protection in his volunteer position.

To argue the volunteer’s right was clearly established, Doyle relies on a sole Tenth Circuit case, *Anderson v. McCotter*, 100 F.3d 723 (10th Cir. 1996). However, the trial court correctly concluded that *Anderson* does not clearly establish a volunteer’s first amendment right for qualified immunity purposes, because the *Anderson* court expressly concluded that the plaintiff there was not a volunteer, and instead was a public employee, because she received monetary compensation and college credit in exchange for her service. *Id.* at 726. (“The uncontroverted facts indicate that Ms. Anderson was, for all relevant purposes, a public employee...” ) Indeed, the Tenth Circuit went so far as to make clear that it was not deciding the issue of whether a volunteers’ right was clearly established. *Id.* at 729 (“We need not decide whether it was clearly established before this case that volunteers had *Pickering* protection, because Ms. Anderson was not a volunteer.”)

Because the Tenth Circuit found Ms. Anderson to be a public employee and not a

volunteer, the *Anderson* Court's comment regarding the constitutional protections a volunteer might enjoy was unnecessary to the court's ultimate decision in the case and therefore was *dicta*. The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly observed that dicta "never carries the force of law." *Bingham v. Roosevelt City Corporation*, 2010 UT 37, ¶ 23. It has long been recognized that "the avoidance of constitutional dicta is itself desirable[.]" *Ehrlich v. Town of Glastonbury*, 348 F.3d 48, 56 (2d Cir. 2003).

In *Hope v. Pelzer*, a qualified immunity case, the United States Supreme Court expressly concluded that dicta statements of another court "d[id] not come close to clearly establishing the unconstitutionality" of the conduct at issue in that case. 536 U.S. 730, 762, 122 S. Ct. 2508, 2527, 153 L. Ed. 2d 666 (2002). Indeed, numerous other courts have so held. *See, e.g., Hamilton v. Cannon*, 80 F.3d 1525, 1530 (11th Cir.1996)("The law cannot be established by dicta. Dicta is particularly unhelpful in qualified immunity cases where we seek to identify clearly established law."); *Jones v. White*, 992 F.2d 1548, 1566 (11th Cir. 1993)("[F]or law-of-the-circuit purposes ... [the review of any precedent] ought to focus far more on the judicial decision than on the judicial opinion." (citation and quotation marks omitted) (alterations in original)); *Atiyeh v. Hairston*, 1993 WL 532976 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 22, 1993)("The dicta ... was insufficient to create a clearly established right to be free from malicious use of process. No case law has recognized dicta as the declaration of a clearly established right. Further, qualified immunity is intended to allow officials reasonably to anticipate when their conduct may give rise to liability for damages. A statement in dicta does not put defendants on notice that their actions may violate the constitution.")(internal citations omitted). Consequently, any

suggestion by the *Anderson* Court in dicta that a volunteer might be entitled to first amendment protections do not serve to clearly establish this right in the Tenth Circuit.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, Bray and Harrison are entitled to qualified immunity.

ii. *Under the balancing test set forth in Pickering v. Board of Education, Bray and Harrison did not violate Doyle's first amendment rights.*

Even assuming *arguendo* that a volunteer enjoys a similar first amendment protection as that of an employee, Bray and Harrison are nonetheless entitled to qualified immunity because Doyle's speech does not meet the standard set forth in *Pickering v. Bd. of Educ.*, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S.Ct. 1731, 20 L.Ed.2d 811 (1968). Under that case, a four-step analysis is used to resolve an employee's first amendment retaliation claim and the question of whether his or her speech is protected by the first amendment. *Id.*; *see also*, *Connick v. Myers*, 461 U.S. 138, 103 S.Ct. 1684, 75 L.Ed.2d 708 (1983).

First, a court must determine whether the employee's speech can be "fairly characterized as constituting speech on a matter of public concern." *Id.* at 146, 103 S.Ct. 1684. If the speech does not touch upon a matter of public concern, there is no first amendment interest. Second, if the speech is regarding a matter of public concern, the court must then balance the employee's interest as a citizen, in commenting upon matters

---

<sup>1</sup> While there is some authority from other circuits for the notion that "lucid and unambiguous dicta concerning the existence of a constitutional right can without more make that right 'clearly established' for purposes of a qualified immunity analysis," *Wilkinson v. Russell*, 182 F.3d 89, 112 (2d Cir.1999) (Calabresi, J., concurring); *see also Hanes v. Zurick*, 578 F.3d 491, 496 (7th Cir.2009) ("[E]ven dicta may clearly establish a right."), the Tenth Circuit has never adopted such a standard. Moreover, even if it had, the brief statement in *Anderson* upon which Doyle relies falls entirely short of meeting the standard of "lucid and unambiguous."

of public concern, against “the interest of the State, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public service it performs through its employees.” *Pickering*, 391 U.S. at 568, 88 S.Ct. 1731.

Only if the balance tips in favor of the employee does the analysis reach the third step, which requires the plaintiff to “prove that the protected speech was a ‘motivating factor’ in the detrimental employment decision.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If the plaintiff makes this showing, the burden shifts “to the employer to show by a preponderance of evidence that it would have reached the same decision in the absence of the protected activity.” *Id.*; *see also Dill v. City of Edmond*, 155 F.3d 1193, 1201 (10th Cir. 1998). “[A]pplication of the *Pickering* balancing test is a question of law[.]” *Gardetto v. Mason*, 100 F.3d 803, 812 (10th Cir. 1996).

### **1. *Pickering* First Element – Matter of Public Concern**

Doyle never specifies in his brief on appeal the exact speech that he claims is constitutionally protected, beyond vague claims that he spoke out regarding “matters of fairness and safety” (Aplt. Brief at p. 8), “improper operation of recreational programs in Lehi City” (Aplt. Brief at 31), and “raised concerns about changes in the recreational program” (Aplt. Brief at p. 29). In his deposition in the proceedings below, however, Doyle identified five topic areas which he claims are protected speech under the first amendment, including: 1) talking to Bray about the Pinto league player draft; 2) talking to Bray about how the state tournament and whether the winning team from seasonal play would have an “automatic bid;” 3) talking to Bray about the “over-pitching” rule; 4) talking about a possible petition to change the rules in youth sports; and 5) talking with Bray at her

office about an incident involving Doyle's assistant coach and a coach from another team. However, as explained below, none of these subject areas is entitled to first amendment protection because they do not implicate matters of public concern.

Speech may involve public concern if it can "be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community." *Connick v. Myers*, 461 U.S. 138, 146, 103 S.Ct. 1684, 1689, 75 L.Ed.2d 708 (1983). In determining whether speech is on a matter of public concern, the Court must consider "the content, form, and context of a given statement, as revealed by the whole record." *Id.* at 147-48, 103 S.Ct. at 1689-90; *O'Donnell v. Yanchulis*, 875 F.2d 1059, 1061 (3d Cir.1989) (quoting *Connick*).

Doyle admits that whether a particular rule is used in a youth baseball league only has a potential impact on individuals who have a relationship to the league, such as players, coaches, and recreation employees. Doyle admits that community members who do not have any interest in youth sports would not be affected by which rules are used. (R. 109-110). As such, Doyle's speech regarding internal rules governing nine and ten year old children's sports cannot "be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community." *Connick, supra*.

Additionally, the content, form, and context of Doyle's comments show that they do not implicate matters of public concern. The content involves matters internal to a city youth sports league, including how to do a player draft, how to select a team for a tournament, and how many pitches a youth player can pitch. The form of Doyle's comments was verbally abusive, aggressive, expletive-ridden, and hostile, as reported by Bray, Mackintosh, and Martinez. By Doyle's own admission, he was upset, raised his

voice, and used the term “bull” when communicating with Bray. The context of Doyle’s speech was during Doyle’s performance of his volunteer coaching responsibilities, as the speech was made to others who were also attempting to perform either their employment or volunteer responsibilities with Lehi City. Doyle admitted in his deposition that members of the general public in Lehi who have no relationship to youth sports will not have any concern in the specific rules applicable to nine and ten year old boys little league play. (R. 109-110). Doyle’s statements do not address matters of public concern.

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